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Decision

1. I allow this appeal. The decision of the Central London (Fox Court) appeal tribunal given on 21 March 2005 is erroneous in law. I set it aside and, under paragraph 8(5)(c) of Schedule 7 to the Child Support, Pensions and Social Security Act 2000 (“the 2000 Act”), I refer the case to a differently constituted tribunal (“the new tribunal”) for determination in accordance with the law as I explain it in paragraphs 40 to 59 below and the directions that I give at paragraph 64 below.

2. Those directions are addressed to the parties as well as to the tribunal. I draw the attention of the parties to the time limit that I have imposed at paragraph 64(i) below.
Background to the appeal.

3. This is an appeal by the claimant. The respondent is the London Borough of Islington (“Islington”). Leave to appeal to the Commissioner was given by Mr Commissioner Levenson on 10 August 2005.

4. I held an oral hearing of the appeal in London on 22 November 2005. At that hearing, the appellant appeared in person and Ms Charlotte John, an appeals officer, represented Islington. I am grateful to the parties for their submissions.

5. The effect of the tribunal’s decision was to confirm two decisions, made by Islington on 6 May 2004, that the appellant had been overpaid housing benefit and paid excess council tax benefit. It will be convenient to refer to those payments collectively as “the overpayments”, although I acknowledge, and do not prejudge, the appellant’s position that she has not in fact been overpaid.

6. Islington decided as it did because it considered that the appellant’s husband was living with her as a non-dependant for a period including that from Monday 5 March 2001 until Sunday 20 October 2002 (“the overpayment period”). That was contrary to what the appellant had told Islington was the case. Therefore, in Islington’s view, the overpayments were recoverable from the appellant.

7. Islington’s submission to the tribunal was equivocal about the amount it was claiming as overpaid. Section 3 of that submission (i.e., the part of the submission that should set out the decision under appeal) did not correctly reflect what Islington had actually decided. The correct figures were set out at paragraph 19 of Section 5 of the submission, namely that the housing benefit overpayment was calculated as being £4,058.75, and the payment of excess council tax benefit as being £590.75.

8. However, after the tribunal’s decision, while the appeal to the commissioner was pending, Islington purported to change that decision so as to reduce those figures to £3,372.80 and £472.60 respectively. I discuss this aspect of the matter at paragraphs 58 to 63 below.

The disputed facts

9. As I have decided to refer the appeal back to the new tribunal, I need say no more about the facts than is necessary to explain my own decision on the law. For the avoidance of doubt, the new tribunal is not bound by the account of the facts that is given below but must make its own findings based on the evidence it receives. Page references are to the numbered pages of the Commissioner’s bundle. 

10. It is not in dispute that on 26 September 2000, the appellant’s husband claimed housing benefit and council tax benefit in anticipation of his becoming the tenant of a council flat (“the Flat”), of which Islington was the landlord, at a rent of £66.53 per week, inclusive of charges (see page 82). That tenancy, which was in the husband’s sole name, commenced on 2 October 2000 and the couple moved into the Flat on 10 October (page 20), shortly before their daughter was born on 28 October. Islington decided those claims in the husband’s favour and made awards of housing benefit and council tax benefit on the basis that he was in receipt of income-based jobseeker’s allowance.

11. What happened next is hotly disputed. The appellant says that her husband left her and went to live with his mother at a property in the London Borough of Hackney. She originally told Islington that this occurred on 21 January 2001 (pages 9 and 14), although she subsequently said in her interview under caution that this date was approximate (page 54). The appellant maintains that her husband did not return to live with her at the Flat until 20 October 2002. Although she accepts that there were some occasions when the husband stayed overnight at the Flat during the overpayment period, this was, she says, because their daughter had problems sleeping. The husband was looking after the daughter while the appellant was catching up on her sleep.

12. Islington, on the other hand, takes the view that the Appellant’s husband did not cease to live at the Flat and that, although there may have been a degree of estrangement between the parties, the Flat continued to be his home throughout the overpayment period. However, as Islington also took the view that the evidence was insufficient to establish that the appellant’s husband was living in the Flat as her “partner”, it decided that he should be treated as her non-dependant.

13. The new tribunal will wish to form its own views on the evidence that led Islington to the conclusion that the appellant’s husband continued to live at the Flat and it is undesirable that I should summarise it in this decision. Suffice it to say that, although there was evidence which was capable of supporting that conclusion, the case was not open and shut.

14. It is, however, important to record that:

(a) on 26 January 2001, five days after he is said to have left the appellant, the husband ceased to receive jobseeker’s allowance. On 9 February 2001, the Department for Work and Pensions (“DWP”) notified Islington that this was because he “works for 16 hours or more each week” (page 6);

(b) with effect from 26 February 2001, the appellant claimed—and was awarded—income support in her own name, presumably as a lone parent. She told me at the oral hearing that she had continued to receive income support throughout the overpayment period.

(c) on 23 February 2001, the appellant made her own claim for housing benefit and council tax benefit and was awarded and paid those benefits from and including Monday 5 March 2001 for a continuous period that ended after Sunday 20 October 2002, the date on which it is accepted that she and her husband were reconciled.

(d) on 12 November 2001, with Islington’s agreement, the tenancy of the Flat, which—it will be remembered—had previously been in the sole name of the husband was assigned by him to the appellant (in her sole name)—see page s 83-84.

So far as I am aware, none of the above matters is in dispute.

The tribunal’s decision

15. At the request of both parties, the tribunal’s decision on 21 March 2005 was reached following a consideration of the papers but without an oral hearing. The tribunal agreed with Islington’s view that the evidence showed the appellant’s husband had continued to have his main home at the property during the overpayment period. It also accepted that the husband therefore fell to be treated as the appellant’s non-dependant. Therefore, it concluded, the appellant had been overpaid benefit and, as there had been no official error, the overpayments were recoverable from her.

16. The tribunal’s decision notice misstates the period of the housing benefit overpayment and both the period and the amount of the payment of excess council tax benefit. This appears to have been the result of its having copied the incorrect version of the decision in Section 3 of Islington’s submission (see paragraph 7 above).

17. It is a common problem for tribunals in housing benefit and council tax benefit appeals that Section 3 of the authority’s submission does not set out that decision correctly. That is not acceptable. Appellants are entitled to know precisely what decision has been made on their claims and to give more than one version of the same decision can only cause confusion. And tribunals are entitled to know what the appeal is about from the outset, rather than when they reach paragraph 19 of the summary of facts.

18. I therefore take the opportunity to remind authorities of the need for care and accuracy when submissions are prepared. Section 3 of an authority’s submission should set out what is sometimes referred to as the “outcome” decision. In other words, it should set out one or more of the following:

(a) that the claimant is entitled to benefit at a specified weekly rate or rates for a specified period or periods; or

(b) that s/he is not entitled to benefit from a specified date or for a specified period; or

(c) that s/he has been overpaid a specific sum or sums in benefit in respect of a specified period or periods

When tribunals look at Section 3 of an authority’s submission, what they want to find is figures and dates. And those figures and dates should reflect exactly what the authority has decided and not some approximation of that decision.

19. That having been said, it is also incumbent on tribunals to check Section 3 against the rest of the submission and the supporting paperwork. In this case, the errors in the tribunal’s decision notice could have been avoided by closer scrutiny of the papers. However, as I am allowing the appeal on other grounds, I do not need to decide whether those errors vitiated the tribunal’s decision or whether they could have been corrected under regulation 56 of the Social Security and Child Support (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 1999 (“the 1999 Regulations”).

The appellant’s grounds of appeal

20. The appellant sought leave to appeal to the Commissioner on three grounds:

(a) She noted that the tribunal had stated that:

“[The appellant] did not attend the tribunal therefore the tribunal were unable to discuss the matter in some detail with her.”

She stated that she had not attended because she had not been notified of the date.

(b) She said that she would have no reason to lie about her husband being absent because if he had been present she would received more in benefit than she did as a lone parent.

(c) She repeated previous explanations for the matters on which Islington (and the tribunal) had relied, as showing that those matters did not necessarily mean that her husband was living at Flat.

21. I am unable to allow the appeal on any of these grounds. Taking each in turn:

(a) The appellant’s absence from the hearing

22. The appellant was not notified of the date of the hearing because, in her replies to the TAS1 questionnaire, she had requested that her appeal should be decided on consideration of the papers and without an oral hearing. She now maintains that the reason she requested a decision on the papers was that any oral hearing would take place in Nottingham and she was unable to attend such a hearing because she lived in London. That was a mistake on her part. The hearing took place in central London at a venue that was approximately two miles from her home. As was explained in the notes that accompanied the TAS1 form, the Nottingham address quoted in the application for leave to appeal:
“…is the office dealing with your appeal, but it may not be where your appeal will be heard. The Appeals Service office dealing with your appeal will arrange for your hearing to be held at a suitable venue closest to your home.”
23. This type of misunderstanding is not that unusual and, if the necessary application had been made, might possibly have persuaded a District Chairman to set aside the tribunal’s decision under regulation 57 of the 1999 Regulations. However, the question on an appeal to the commissioner is not whether the interests of justice require the matter to be re-heard but whether the tribunal erred in law by accepting the appellant’s request for a paper hearing at face value. In this appeal there was nothing in the appellant’s replies to the questionnaire, or in any of the other paperwork, that should have alerted the tribunal to the misunderstanding at the time of the hearing. On this point, therefore, the error that occurred was the claimant’s, not the tribunal’s.

24. I must nevertheless admit to misgivings about a decision having been made on the papers in this case. This was an appeal involving an unrepresented claimant, a very large overpayment, allegations of deliberate dishonesty and strongly contested facts. It was not an appeal where it was in the appellant’s interests to have opted for a paper hearing and, if she had sought advice, no competent representative would have advised her to proceed on that basis. The passage from the tribunal’s statement of reasons quoted at paragraph 20(a) above shows that the tribunal itself would have welcomed the opportunity to ask the appellant questions.

25. Given those circumstances, the tribunal chairman should, in my judgment, have considered whether or not to exercise her discretion under regulation 39(5) of the 1999 Regulations to adjourn for an oral hearing. To have done so need not have involved a waste of judicial time because the delay caused by such an adjournment could have been used to give much-needed directions for the clarification of the husband’s income and benefits during the overpayment period (i.e., along the lines of the directions that I have now given at paragraph 64(h) below). In some cases, and it is impossible to know whether this is one of them, holding an oral hearing may also save time in the long run by preventing an appeal to the commissioner and/or by allowing the tribunal to make more detailed findings of fact that then enable the commissioner to substitute his or her own decision rather than direct a re-hearing. And, although I do not criticise the tribunal for not having realised this, directing an oral hearing of this appeal would have caused the Appeals Service to send the appellant a map of the area around the Fox Court venue, thereby clarifying that the hearing would not take place in Nottingham.

26. It is unclear whether the chairman gave any serious thought to the possibility of holding an oral hearing. It is true that she ticked the statement on the pro forma record of proceedings that:

“I am satisfied that it is proper to proceed today to decide the appeal on the papers.”

but no reasons are given for that conclusion either on the record of proceedings or in the statement of reasons. On the contrary, in stating that 

“[The appellant] did not attend the tribunal therefore the tribunal were unable to discuss the matter in some detail with her”

the statement seems to imply that, at least by the time she wrote it, the chairman believed that the appeal had been decided at an oral hearing that the appellant had simply failed to attend.

27. Regulation 39(5) confers a judicial discretion on the tribunal chairman. If that discretion is exercised, then the commissioner is only entitled to interfere with the chairman’s decision if s/he has taken into account an irrelevant consideration, failed to take account a relevant consideration, or reached a decision that was irrational (i.e., in the sense of being perverse)—see the decisions of Mr Commissioner Bano in CIS/2292/2000 and Mr Commissioner Rowland in CIB/1009/2004, both of which concerned the analogous discretion to adjourn or postpone. But to fail to exercise the discretion in an appropriate case—that is, to fail even to consider whether or not to adjourn for an oral hearing—would, in my judgment, amount to an error of law. So would a failure by a chairman to give brief reasons for proceeding on the papers in such a case: if such reasons are not given, then the commissioner is unable to scrutinise the chairman’s decision in accordance with the principles in CIS/2292/2000 and CIB/1009/2004.

28. However, as I have decided to set aside the tribunal’s decision on other grounds, it is unnecessary for me to consider this issue further: any unfairness that may have occurred as a result of the previous paper hearing will now be cured by the oral hearing that I have directed the new tribunal to hold.

(b) The “nothing to gain” ground of appeal

29. The appellant’s submission that she had nothing to gain from telling Islington that her husband was not living at the property because she would have got more money if he had been living there cannot be sustained.

30. I accept that the income support payable to the appellant as a lone parent is less than she and her husband would have received in income-based jobseeker’s allowance as a couple. However, the amount of benefit they would have received as a couple is less than the total they would have received as two single people. It is precisely because two single people usually receive more in benefit than a couple that cases of fictitious desertion and failure to declare cohabitation occur from time to time.

31. In this case, there is the additional factor that, according to the evidence of the DWP, on 26 January 2001—only five days after he is said to have separated from her—the appellant’s husband signed-off from the Jobcentre and started work. On the assumption that that evidence is correct (and it was not disputed), if the appellant had not told Islington that her husband had left the Flat, the family would have received no jobseeker’s allowance at all from 26 January 2001 and their housing benefit and council tax benefit would have been significantly reduced by her husband’s earnings.

32. I wish to stress that I am not saying that the appellant was making a false declaration when she told Islington that her husband was no longer living at the flat. That is a matter for the new tribunal. What I am saying is that she is incorrect when she says that she and her husband had nothing to gain from falsely making such a declaration.

(c) The factual explanations

33. The brief answer to the factual explanations offered by the appellant in her grounds of appeal is that there is no right of appeal to the commissioner in respect of such matters. The points she makes were considered and rejected by the tribunal. They do not raise any point of law, which is the only ground upon which I can allow an appeal.

Other possible grounds

34. When he granted leave to appeal, Mr Levenson raised three further points, namely:

(a) that the tribunal had given no consideration to the significance of the transfer of the tenancy in October 2001 as an indication of genuine estrangement;

(b) that the tribunal had been confused over the appropriate test of aggregation for a married couple and as to different situations at different times within the overpayment period. (This comment was made, I think, because the statement of reasons at one point refers to the overpayment’s being reduced on the basis of the appellant and her husband being reclassified as partners, whereas, at least during periods in which the husband was working, such a re-classification would almost certainly have increased the overpayment); and

(c) that the tribunal had applied the maximum non-dependant deduction on the basis of there being no evidence of the husband’s earnings and despite the (at the time) undisputed evidence that, for part of the period under consideration, he had been awarded invalid care allowance (which is subject to earnings limits) and that that award had been preceded by an award of JSA.

35. Having now received the parties’ submissions on these points, I am able to deal with them comparatively briefly:

(a) The transfer of the tenancy

36. I am not satisfied that the tribunal erred in law by failing to make express mention of the transfer of the tenancy to the appellant from her husband. It might have been preferable if the tribunal had done so, but the question for me to decide is not whether the statement of reasons was perfect but whether it was adequate. There is no obligation on the tribunal to refer expressly to each and every piece of evidence. Taken as a whole, it is clear that the tribunal felt that the evidence of the appellant (including the documents she produced) was outweighed by the matters on which Islington relied.

37. In the context of this appeal, where what is being alleged is a deliberate collusive fraud by the appellant and her husband, the transfer of the tenancy was not perhaps the weighty piece of evidence that it might have been in other contexts. This is because the interpretation to be placed on the transfer will depend upon other matters. If the other evidence had persuaded the tribunal that the appellant was telling the truth, then the transfer of the tenancy to her could be seen as supporting that conclusion. If, on the other hand, one takes the view from the other evidence that a fraud was being perpetrated, then the transfer is equally explicable on the basis that it was entered into to support the appellant’s fraudulent account of events. Although it will be open to the new tribunal to weigh matters differently, my own conclusion on this point has been influenced by the fact that I regard the existence of the transfer as being of little weight on its own.

(b) Misunderstanding the test for aggregation

38. To the extent that the tribunal did misunderstand these issues, I regard the error as being subsumed in the more fundamental error that I identify below.

(c) The awards of invalid care allowance and jobseeker’s allowance

39. I accept that the tribunal made this error and that, on the approach taken by the tribunal, it was material. On the assumption that the husband was the appellant’s non-dependant, the level of the non-dependant deduction to be made would have varied according to the level of his earnings. I accept that for some periods, no evidence of the husband’s earnings was available and, on that basis, the maximum deduction fell to be applied. For others, there was evidence that the husband had been in receipt of income-based jobseeker’s allowance or invalid care allowance (now “carer’s allowance”). It is a condition of entitlement to jobseeker’s allowance that the claimant should not be in remunerative work and so, during periods in which the husband was lawfully in receipt of jobseeker’s allowance, only the minimum deduction should have been applied. It is a condition of entitlement to invalid care allowance that the claimant should not earn more than the lower earnings limit used in the assessment of the liability of an employed earner to pay Class 1 national insurance contributions. Therefore, unless the tribunal was satisfied that the appellant’s husband had between obtained by fraud or dishonesty (or that he had some source additional source of unearned income) again only the minimum deduction should have been made.

Non-dependants and partners

40. However, the error discussed in the preceding paragraph is academic. This is because it relates to an issue that only arises once it has been decided that the husband was the appellant’s non-dependant. Unfortunately, the tribunal erred in law by treating the husband as the appellant’s non-dependant in the first place. On the facts found by the tribunal, the only conclusion it could lawfully have made was that the appellant’s husband was her partner.

41. To explain why that is so, it is necessary to refer to section 137 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 and to regulations 2 and 3 of the Housing Benefit (General) Regulations 1987 ("the Housing Benefit Regulations") and of the Council Tax Benefit (General) Regulations 1992 ("the Council Tax Benefit Regulations"). Section 137 and regulation 2 have subsequently been amended in consequence of the Civil Partnership Act 2004. The law is set out below as it stood at the relevant time.

42. So far as is relevant, section 137 is in the following terms:

“137.–(1) In this Part of this Act, unless the context otherwise requires—

…

“family” means—

(a)
a married or unmarried couple; …

“married couple” means a man and a woman who are married to each other and are members of the same household;

…

“unmarried couple” means a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living together as husband and wife otherwise than in prescribed circumstances;”

Those definitions apply to the Housing Benefit Regulations by virtue of regulation 2 of those regulations and section 2(4) of the Social Security (Consequential Provisions) Act 1992. They apply to the Council Tax Benefit Regulations by virtue of regulation 2 of those regulations.

43. Again so far as is relevant, regulation 2 is in the following terms:

“Interpretation

2.–(1) In these Regulations, unless the context otherwise requires—

…

“partner” means—

(a)
where the claimant is a member of a married or unmarried couple, the other member of that couple; or

(b)
where a claimant is polygamously married to two or more members of his household, any such member to whom he is married; …”

44. Regulation 3 is in the following terms:

“Definition of non-dependant

3.–(1) In these regulations, “non-dependant” means any person, except someone to whom paragraph (2) applies who normally resides with a claimant or with whom a claimant normally resides.

(2)
This paragraph applies to—

(a)
any member of the claimant’s family;

(b)
if the claimant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person who is a member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible;

(c)
a child or young person who is living with the claimant but who is not a member of his household by virtue of regulation 15 (membership of the same household);

(d)
subject to paragraph (3), a person who jointly occupies the claimant’s dwelling and is either a co-owner of that dwelling with the claimant or his partner (whether or not there are other co-owners) or is liable with the claimant or his partner to make payments in respect of his occupation of the dwelling;

(e)
subject to paragraph (3)—

(i)
any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial basis to the claimant or the claimant's partner in respect of the occupation of the dwelling,

(ii)
any person to whom or to whose partner the claimant or the claimant's partner is liable to make payments on a commercial basis in respect of the occupation of the dwelling, or

(iii)
any other member of the household of the person to whom or to whose partner the claimant or the claimant's partner is liable to make payments on a commercial basis in respect of the occupation of the dwelling;

(f)
a person who lives with the claimant in order to care for him or a partner of his who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the claimant or his partner for the services provided by that person.

(3)
Sub-paragraphs (d) and (e) of paragraph (2) shall not apply to any person who is treated as if he were not liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling under paragraph (1) of regulation 7 (circumstances in which a person is to be treated as not liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling).

(4)
For the purposes of this regulation and regulation 7 (circumstances in which a person is to be treated as not liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling) a person resides with another only if they share any accommodation except a bathroom, a lavatory or a communal area within the meaning prescribed in paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 but not if each person is separately liable to make payments in respect of his occupation of the dwelling to the landlord.”
45. It will be seen from that legislation that:

(a) it is not possible for a person to be both the “partner” and the “non-dependant” of the same claimant at one and the same time. To be the “partner” of a claimant inevitably means either :

(i) that the person is the other member of a married or unmarried couple (in which case s/he is a member of the claimant’s “family” and therefore excluded from the definition of non-dependant by regulation 3(2)(a)); or

(ii) that the person is polygamously married to the claimant and a member of the same household (in which case s/he is excluded under regulation 3(2)(b)). 

(b) when two people who are lawfully married live together in the same household they are, by virtue of section 137, a “married couple” and the member of that couple who is not who is not the claimant is automatically the “partner” of the member who is.

(c) It follows from (a) and (b) that the spouse of a claimant who lives in the same household as the claimant cannot be the claimant’s non-dependant.

(d) The definition of “non-dependant” in regulation 3 requires that before someone can be a non-dependant of the claimant, that person must “normally reside with” the claimant or the claimant must “normally reside with” that person. Under regulation. 3(4) that means more than merely sharing a bathroom, lavatory or common areas such as halls, landings and corridors.

46. It is not in dispute that the appellant and her husband are legally married. Therefore, in order for Islington to establish that the appellant’s husband is her non-dependant (the burden being on the local authority to show grounds for the revision of the previous award of benefit to the appellant) it must prove both that:

(a) the appellant and her husband “normally reside with” one another (i.e., that as a minimum they share accommodation other than bathrooms, lavatories and common areas); but that nevertheless

(b) the appellant and her husband are not members of the same household.

The difficulties facing anyone who tries to prove that both those circumstances are true at the same time will be self-evident.

47. If Parliament had wished, it could have framed the definition of “non-dependant” in terms of “membership of the same household as the claimant”. That it chose not to do so, and instead established a test of “normal residence”, indicates that two different tests were intended. I am therefore not prepared to say as a matter of law that a married person can never be the non-dependant of his or her spouse. But the overlap between the concept of “membership of the same household” and that of “normally residing with” is so obviously extensive that such cases will be rare and will involve quite exceptional facts. The present appeal is not such a case.

48. In particular, where a married couple “normally reside with” each other it will usually be necessary to have specific evidence that they are maintaining separate finances if the conclusion that they are also members of the same household is to be avoided. No such evidence exists in this appeal. On the contrary, Islington’s strategy has been to rely upon the husband’s continuing documented financial links with the Flat in order to prove that he continued to live there. None of that evidence points to the existence of separate households and some of it (e.g., that relating to the payment of the electricity bill for the whole property by the husband) positively suggests the existence of one joint household. At the oral hearing, Islington made the point that the appellant herself had consistently denied that her husband had made any financial contribution to the household during the overpayment period. My answer to that submission is that Islington cannot have it both ways. Their case is that the appellant is not telling the truth. If her evidence that she received no financial support from her husband is to be rejected on the issue of whether her husband was living at the flat, it cannot, as a simple matter of logic, be accepted on the issue of whether he was her partner or her non-dependant. Either she is telling the truth when she says she received no financial support, or she is not.

49. The error into which Islington, and the tribunal, fell can best be seen in Islington’s statement in the decision letter on page 24 that:

“The Local Authority was unable to prove that you and [your husband] were living together as man and wife for this period, but as they believe this was [your husband’s] main residence he has been treated as a non-dependent [sic] in the household”

As I have explained above, where a couple are married it takes more, not less, evidence to prove that one is the non-dependant of the other than it does to prove that they are partners. Further Islington’s reference to “living together as man and wife”, confuses the rules for married couples (who are legally liable to maintain each other) with those for unmarried couples. Where the claimant and the alleged cohabitee are unmarried then, before they can be treated as “partners” for social security purposes, it is necessary to prove not only that they live in the same household but also that their relationship is analogous to that of husband and wife. In the case of a married couple, it is—for obvious reasons—unnecessary to prove the second of those circumstances.
50. For those reasons I direct the tribunal as a matter of law that, as the evidence presently stands, it does not form any basis for a finding that the appellant’s husband was her non-dependant during the overpayment period. Unless new evidence comes to light (in which case the tribunal will weigh it in accordance with what I say at paragraphs 40 to 49 above) then, if the new tribunal finds that the appellant’s husband was living at the Flat during all or part of the overpayment period, it must conclude that the husband was the appellant’s partner during that time.

The need to prove fraud

51. The direction I give in the preceding paragraph, raises a further issue. The only reason that a finding that the appellant’s husband was her partner is relevant to her benefit entitlement is because, under section 136(1) of the Contributions and Benefits Act, it has the effect that his income and capital fall to be aggregated with hers in the means test. It is not relevant to any other issue.

52. But, in this case, the means test may not apply to the appellant. The appellant says that she was in receipt of income support throughout the overpayment period. If that is correct, and so far it has not been disputed, then—subject to what I say in the paragraph 54 below—the effect of the award of income support is that the whole of her income and capital (including any income or capital of the husband that is aggregated with hers) is disregarded (see paragraph 10 of Schedule 3, paragraph 4 of Schedule 4, and paragraph 5 of Schedule 5 to the Housing Benefit Regulations and the Council Tax Benefit Regulations). In other words, she is to be treated for the purposes of the housing benefit and council tax benefit means-tests as having no income or capital—see the decision of Kennedy J (as he then was) in R. v. Housing Benefits Review Board of Penwith District Council ex parte Menear (1990) 24 Housing Law Reports 115 and R(H) 9/04 (which summarises the effect of the Menear decision at paragraph 36).

53. When it was believed that the appellant’s husband was her non-dependant, the principle in ex parte Menear had no application. This is because (except in those rare cases in which the local authority exercises its powers under regulation 20 of the Housing Benefit Regulations or regulation 12 of the Council Tax Benefit Regulations) a non-dependant’s income and capital are not treated as belonging to the claimant and do not affect the result of the means test. Any non-dependant deduction that may apply is based on the weekly income of the non-dependant and is therefore unaffected by an award of income support of income-based jobseeker’s allowance to the claimant.

54. What I say in paragraph 52 above is subject to the qualification to the ex parte Menear principle that was identified in R. v. Housing Benefits Review Board of South Ribble District Council ex parte Hamilton, CA, (2000) 33 Housing Law Reports 102. In that case it was held that:

“…where, as here, entitlement to housing benefit is dependent on receipt of income support, that income support must have been lawfully obtained; that is, lawfully in the sense of neither by fraud, nor dishonestly”
(see the judgment of Henry LJ at paragraph 28). The transcript of the ex parte Hamilton decision included in the commissioner’s papers is of the decision of the High Court and not the decision of the Court of Appeal. I have caused a copy of the transcript of the latter decision to be added to the tribunal papers.
55. I therefore direct the new tribunal, that if it finds that the appellant’s husband was her partner at any time during the overpayment period, and if it accepts that the appellant was in receipt of income support during that time, it should also make findings of fact as to whether that award of income support was obtained by the fraud or dishonesty of the appellant or some other person. This is a strict test: it is not sufficient for the tribunal to conclude that the appellant was not entitled to the income support that she received: an incorrect entitlement may arise through an innocent error by a claimant or as the result of an official error by the DWP. In such a case, the income support award would have to be revised or superseded before there could be a recoverable overpayment of housing benefit or council tax benefit. Only a finding of fraud or dishonesty will entitle Islington (and, on appeal, the tribunal) to go behind an extant award of income support.

56. If the income support award was not obtained by fraud or dishonesty then the tribunal cannot, as a matter of law, conclude that appellant has been overpaid housing benefit or council tax benefit on the basis that her husband’s income or capital falls to be aggregated with hers.

57. If, on the other hand, the income support award was so obtained, the provisions listed in paragraph 52 above do not apply and the tribunal should proceed to make findings of fact as to the true level of the appellant’s income and capital, including that of her husband, during the overpayment period.

Islington’s intervening decision

58. I mention at paragraph 8 above that, after the grant of leave by Mr Levenson but before the oral hearing, Islington notified the appellant in writing that it had decided to change the decision of the tribunal and reduce the amount of the overpayment that the tribunal had found to be recoverable. The reason for that decision was that, for the period from 1 April 2002 to 28 July 2002, Islington had decided to reduce the non-dependant deduction in the housing benefit award, and to remove the non-dependant deduction from the council tax benefit award altogether. Those changes were said to be required to reflect the fact that the appellant’s husband had been in receipt of income-based jobseeker’s allowance for that period.
59. Whatever powers Islington may have to change its own decisions, it is not clear to me that it had any power to change a tribunal decision in such a manner. And even if it did, it was unhelpful for that power to have been exercised while an appeal to the commissioner was pending.
60. If the change to the tribunal’s decision had been one that meant an increase in the benefit paid to the claimant, then I could understand the need to make that change as soon as possible. That is not the case here. All the housing benefit and council tax benefit that the appellant will ever receive for the period from 1 April 2002 to 28 July 2002 has already been paid to her: the only issue is how much, if any, of that benefit she will have to pay back. As a matter of good administrative practice, Islington should not be taking steps to recover any overpayment while an appeal against that overpayment is outstanding. I therefore cannot see why the reduction of the amount claimed by Islington was so urgent that it could not wait to be dealt with in this decision. If Islington formed the view that the tribunal’s decision had overstated the correct amount of the overpayments, then it should have made a further written submission to the commissioner pointing out what it believed to be the error and the effect that the correction of that error would have on the amounts due. I would then have been in a position to make whatever decision was appropriate in the context of the appeal as a whole.

61. In the event, all that Islington has achieved by its intervening decision is to add an additional level of complexity to this appeal. And, since it is possible that the amount of the overpayments will actually increase as a result of the new tribunal’s decision, I regard it as particularly unfortunate that the appellant should have been led to believe that those amounts would be reduced.

62. But, however unfortunate it may be, the fact of the matter is that Islington has made a decision changing the decision of the tribunal that is under appeal to me. I cannot ignore that fact. The issues I have to consider are whether the later decision causes the appeal to the commissioner to lapse. If so, this might mean either:

(a) that I no longer have jurisdiction to decide this appeal; or

(b) (assuming that I do have such jurisdiction) that the new tribunal would not have jurisdiction to consider the period from 1 April 2002 to 28 July 2002 unless and until the appellant makes a fresh appeal in respect of that period.

63. I have decided that:

(a) even if I no longer have jurisdiction in respect of the period from 1 April 2002 to 28 July 2002, I retain jurisdiction in respect of the remainder of the overpayment period; and that

(b) as a result of my decision to set aside the tribunal’s decision, Islington’s subsequent decision necessarily ceases to have effect.

Therefore, the new tribunal will have jurisdiction to consider the whole of the overpayment period and not merely the periods from 5 March 2001 to 31 March 2002 and from 29 July 2002 to 20 October 2002. By the same reasoning, it is not necessary for the appellant to make a further appeal against Islington’s subsequent decision.

64. That reasoning is as follows:

(a) A local authority’s powers to change a tribunal decision are limited. In particular, there is no power for a local authority to revise a tribunal decision in any circumstances. Paragraph 3 of Schedule 7 to the 2000 Act only permits the revision of “relevant decisions”, i.e., decisions made by the authority itself.

(b) It follows that any change that Islington could lawfully make to the tribunal’s decision can only take effect, if at all, as a “supersession”, that is a decision superseding the tribunal’s earlier decision under paragraph 4 of Schedule 7. A local authority is only entitled to make a superseding decision where there are grounds upon which to do so, and in this appeal the only possible ground is that under regulation 7(2)(d) of the 2001 Regulations, namely that the tribunal’s decision “was made in ignorance of, or was based upon a mistake as to, some material fact”.

(c) As I imply at paragraph 59 above, I do not consider that ground to have been established. However, it is unnecessary for me to explain why I take that view because, whatever I may think about it, it is beyond dispute that:

(i) a superseding decision was made; and that

(ii) the appellant has not challenged that decision, either by way of an application to revise it or by way of a further appeal.

In those circumstances, paragraph 11 of Schedule 7 to the 2000 Act provides that Islington’s decision is to be “final”. I therefore have to treat that decision as valid and consider whether it has the effect of causing the appeal to the commissioner to lapse.

(d) In the past there was considerable case law at commissioner level on whether, and if so in what circumstances, a change to the underlying decision caused an appeal to the commissioner to lapse. That case law was largely overtaken by statute when paragraph 7 of Schedule 3 to the Social Security Act 1989 came into force. But the issue has arisen once again following the changes to decision-making and appeals introduced, first, by the Social Security Act 1998 and subsequently, in relation to housing benefit and council tax benefit, by the 2000 Act. I respectfully agree with the view expressed by Mr Rowland in R(DLA) 2/04 that “there is no point in analysing now the law as it existed before the Social Security Act 1998 came into force”.

(e) Therefore, approaching the issue from first principles, and applying the pragmatic approach adopted in R(DLA) 2/04, I would hold that, even if—which it is unnecessary for me to decide—the effect of Islington’s superseding decision is to cause the appeal to the commissioner to lapse in respect of the period to which that decision relates, it does not cause it to lapse in respect of the other parts of the overpayment period. I therefore retain jurisdiction over this matter, at least in relation to the periods from 5 March 2001 to 31 March 2002 and from 29 July 2002 to 20 October 2002.

(f) In the exercise of that jurisdiction, I have now set aside the decision of the tribunal that was superseded by Islington. Can the superseding decision continue in force despite the fact that the underlying decision has been set aside?

(g) In R(DLA) 2/04, it was held that:

“Live proceedings arising out of an application for supersession based on ignorance of, or a mistake as to, a material fact lapse when the decision to be superseded is set aside on appeal (provided that there is no further appeal in respect of the original decision).”

The position in this appeal is slightly different because I am not concerned with live proceedings arising out of a decision to supersede for error of fact, but with the superseding decision itself. But in my judgment the same principle should apply. The superseding decision is so closely linked with the tribunal’s decision that it must fall with it. The superseding decision reflects Islington’s view that the tribunal erred by applying too high a rate of non-dependant deduction. As a result of my decision and the directions I have given, there is—at least in the absence of fresh evidence—no basis for the application of any non-dependant deduction at all. As those two decisions are irreconcilable, Islington’s decision cannot survive.

(h) I note, finally, that a similar approach by Mr Commissioner Angus to a disability living allowance appeal was approved by Latham LJ when refusing permission to appeal in Farrington v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions [2004] EWCA Civ 435 (at paragraph 10).

Procedural directions to the new tribunal and to the parties

65. In addition to the directions as to the substantive law that I have given at paragraphs 50, 55, and 63 above, I give the following directions under paragraph 8(5)(c) of Schedule 7 to the 2000 Act:

(a) The first issue for the new tribunal to consider will be whether the appellant’s husband was living at the Flat during the overpayment period, or some part of it. If the answer to that question is no then the appellant is entitled to succeed in her appeal.

(b) In relation to that issue, there is evidence before the commissioner that was not before the previous tribunal. That evidence suggests that, for a period, the appellant’s husband was assessed by the Child Support Agency as liable to pay child support maintenance for his daughter. Such an assessment could only be correct if the appellant and her husband were living in separate households. Therefore, Islington is to obtain copies of:

(i) the maintenance application form completed by the appellant; 

(ii) the maintenance enquiry form completed by the husband (if any); and

(iii) a printout showing what, if any assessments, were made against the husband and whether any payments were made by him

from the Child Support Agency. Those documents are to be made available to the new tribunal.

(c) If the answer to the question posed at sub-paragraph (a) above is yes then, in the absence of compelling fresh evidence to the contrary, the new tribunal must conclude that the appellant and her husband were partners during the period they lived together and also during any period of temporary absence from one another within regulation 15 of the Housing Benefit Regulations and regulation 7 of the Council Tax Benefit Regulations.

(d) In those circumstances, the tribunal will need to make findings as to whether the appellant was in receipt of income support for all or part of any period during which she and her husband were partners. If the answer to that question is yes, the new tribunal must go on to consider whether that award of income support was obtained by fraud or dishonesty.

(e) In relation to that issue, Islington is to obtain copies of:

(i) every claim for income support made by the appellant during (or shortly before) the overpayment period; 

(ii) any notifications of changes in circumstances that she may have given to the DWP during that period; and

(iii) confirmation from the DWP of the appellant’s entitlement to income support during all or any part of the overpayment period.

Those documents are to be made available to the new tribunal. Islington will note that, as this is an overpayment appeal, it must establish grounds for revising or superseding the original awards of housing benefit and council tax benefit to the appellant: it is likely that the new tribunal will be reluctant to make a finding of fraud or dishonesty against the appellant, or any other person, in the absence of the documents listed above.

(f) If the new tribunal finds that the award of income support was not obtained by fraud or dishonesty, then the position is as explained at paragraph 56 above.

(g) If a finding of fraud or dishonesty is made then the new tribunal will need to make findings as to the joint income and capital of the appellant and her husband.

(h) In relation to that issue:

(i) Islington is to obtain written evidence from the DWP setting out details of all benefit payments, including (but not limited to) payments of income-based jobseeker’s allowance and invalid care allowance/carer’s allowance that were made to the appellant’s husband during the overpayment period. Those documents are to be made available to the new tribunal.

(ii) The appellant, and her husband (with whom, as she informed me, she remains reconciled) are to provide the tribunal with copies of the statements relating to every bank account held by them, whether in the sole names of either person or in their joint names, during the period from March 2001 to October 2002. They must also provide the new tribunal with written confirmation of all the jobs held by the husband during that period and written evidence (such as pay-slips, P45s or P60s) of his earnings in each of those jobs. The appellant is warned that, given the evidence of the DWP on page 6, it is unlikely that the new tribunal will accept that her husband did no work during that period (although the decision on that point is a matter for the new tribunal not me).

If the appellant and her husband fail to comply with this direction the new tribunal may draw such inferences as it may consider appropriate, including the inference that the documents have not been produced because they would have shown that the appellant and her husband had a level of income and/or capital that was too high to be consistent with entitlement to an income-related benefit such as housing benefit or council tax benefit.

(i) The documents that I have directed the parties to provide must be received by the Appeals Service in Nottingham no later than six weeks from the date on which this decision is sent to the parties. If that time limit cannot be met, then a written application for an extension should be made to a District Chairman before it expires.

(j) The new tribunal shall not include the panel member who sat on 21 March 2005. The District Chairman who will review this matter when the file is returned to the Appeals Service, may wish to consider whether the appeal should be reserved to a District Chairman.

(k) The procedural directions that I have given above are subject to any supplementary directions that may be given by that District Chairman or by a Regional Chairman or by the chairman of the new tribunal.

(l) The new tribunal shall hold an oral hearing of the appeal. I give the appellant notice that that hearing will take place in central London, not Nottingham and I advise her that it is very much in her interests for her and her husband to attend that hearing. I warn her that the tribunal may draw adverse inferences if either she or her husband fails to do so.

(m) I also advise the appellant that, as may have become clear to her, this matter is much less straightforward than she may previously have believed. In particular, as I told her at the oral hearing, it is possible that the new tribunal’s decision will have the effect of increasing the amount of any overpayment that may be recoverable from her, rather than reducing it. In those circumstances, I strongly advise the claimant that she should urgently seek advice and, if possible, representation from Citizen’s Advice, Islington People’s Rights or a similar organisation.

	(Signed on the original) 


	Richard Poynter
Deputy Commissioner

11 December 2005
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